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i. Name

historic Central Park Historic District

and/or common

2. Location

street & number bounded roughly by 4‘th, 7th, North and Lyon Streets

not for publication

city, town, Hannibal - ___ vicinity of congressional district #9 = Hon. Harold Volkmer

state ‘Missouri code 29 county Marion

code 127

3. Ciassification

Category Gwnership Status Present Use
_X_ district ____public _X_ occupied — agriculiure
____ bulldina{s) ____ private —_ unoccupied & _commercial
— Structure & _ both — work in progress — educational

— Tseurn

X _park
£ private residence

—— Site Fublic Acquisition Accessible _X entertainment _X_ refigious
— object —__.in process _%_ yes: restricted _X government ____ scientific
-— being considered . yes: unrestricted — industrial - transpariation
—no — military —— other:

4. Qwner of Property T

name 1. City of Hannibal L
_st;eega_number City Ha_l, Broadway at F‘ourth 3t -

clty. town Hamibal - _:__wcimty ot ) state Misscuri 63401
75 Location of Legal Descwptmn
‘€ourthouse, registry of deeds, ete. Circuit Clerk and Recorder -

street & number Marlon County Courthouse

clty, town Palmyra state Missouri 63461

6. Representation in Existing Surveys ]

“1.Missouri: A Guide to the "Show Me" State X
title has this prnpertv heen determined elﬂgibie" —_ves .2 _no
date 141 - o -7 ___federat X _state __ _county ___ yocal
Cepository for survey records Published: Duell, Sloan and Pearce

New York
city, tovg_r_n New __York -glate Q

o
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2. Kenneth A. & Jane Abrams 13. Eva L. Baltzer
415 N. 5th Street 222 S. Fifth Street
3. Guilford & Rosemary Aldrich 14. James W. Bartling
408 N. 4th Street 300 N. Seventh Street
4. Ernestine H. Allen 15. Paul Bean
2212 Palmyra Road 3713-415 Broadway
for 401 1/2 N. 4th Street
400 Hi11 Street 16. Donald L. Benjamin
612 Church Street
5. American Legion
E. J. Shields Post #55 17. Thomas A. Benney
6th and Lyon Streets "~ 513 North Street
for 302 South Sixth Street
© 309 South Fifth Street 18. W. H. Berger
. 315 South Fifth Street 4951 Center
' for 106 N. 4th Street
6. Donald L. & Neva Dell Anderson
12 Fair Oaks 19. Nova A. Berry
for 516 Broadway 49571 Center
for 106 N. 4th Street
7. Rubey C. Anderson ,
216 N. 7th Street 20. Kenneth Billinas
512 Hill Street
8. Charles Anton
614 Flora 21. Barbara Blackier
for 217 Soguth Sixth 506 Hill Street
. ‘for 506-508 Hill Street
9. Otis Roy & Rowena Ardrey
213 Church Street 22. George C. Blackler
for 221 South Sixth Street : 521 Bird Street
412-414 Church Street "~ for 521 Bird Street
418 Church Street - 216 N. Sixth Street
616 Church Street o 214 N. Sixth Street
112-114 North 7th Street
10. Donald L. Atkins o
Route 2 : 23. Theodore & Pauline Blackwell
for 313 Bird Street 511 North Fifth Street
11. Patricia Petter Aubuchon ' - 24, Myrle S. & Dorothy Bockes
416 N. 6th Street 307 North Sixth Street
12. Jas. L. Ballinger 25. Bonanza Distributing Co. (Iowa Corp.)
221-223 North 6th Street : 417 Broadway

for 417-419 Broadway
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26. Ralph F. Boor 38. Leona N. & Hubert L. Bush, Jr.
512 North Fifth Street Haydon Park Lane
for 512-514 North Fifth Street for 609-611 Bird Street
523 North Fifth Street 521 Church Street
27. Richard D. & Sharon K. Bowen 39. Alan Bushmeyer
1737 Harrison Hill 455 Country Club Drive
for 606 Church Street for 303 N. Fourth Street

. 400 Bird Street
28. Mrs. Opal F. Bowles

314 N, Fifth Street 40. Mary M. Caldwell
for 314-316 N. Fifth Street 610 Bird Street
29. Erwin & Ruth Brandt 41. Danny E. & Judy M. Callaway
200ANorth 4th Street 208 S. Sixth Street
for 404-406 North Fifth Street
311-313 N. 7th Street 42. Dorothy E. Carey
: 316 N. Fifth Street
30. Norma Jean & Roy E. Branham for 416 Hi11 Street
3830 Bellevue , 417-419 Hill Street

for 209 South 6th Street _ _
43, James E. & Tillie Cash -
31. Frank Brashears 116 South Seventh Street
405 Broadway
44, Richard Cerretti
32. Donald L. Brawley 214 N. Fifth Street
307 N. Seventh Street
. : 45. Kenneth R. Christy
33. Emmett G. Bremmer, Jr. 208 South Seventh Street
121 South Sixth Street -
46. Hagh & Dorothy Clagaett

34. Bradiey L. Brice . 210 North 4th Street
613 Church Street
for 611-613 Church Street 47. Genevieve M. Clark

: . 316 North Seventh Street
35. Clem & Gertrude Brice :

209 South Seventh Street 48. Rev. Clinton R. Coffman
' 310 North Seventh Street
36. Bessie B. Brown for 307 North Seventh Street

210 North 6th Street
49, J. Daniel & Jeri A. Conboy

37. James Q. Brown . 401 N. Sixth Street
2800 St. Marys
. for 201 N. Fifth Street 50. Camille Cowen

110 §. Sixth Street
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51. Robert & Marjorie Craig 61. Clark & Helen Drennen
411 North 6th Street 2620 Laclede
for 307-309 Bird Street
52. Richard & Mildred Crane
409 N. Fifth Street 62. A. B. Drescher
300 N. Sixth
53. John G. & Marsha Croll
323 North Third 63. Ethel W. Dreyer
for 400 North Third Helen W. Burnett
_ John Walterman
54. George Danforth 310 South Fifth Street
422 N. Fifth Street
for 422 N. Fifth Street 64. Eagles FO #638
421 Bird Street 517 Broadway
' for 517-519 Broadway
55. J. Franklin Davidson
501 North Street 65. Lawrence Etasley
for 501 North Street 5622 Yuba Avenue
601 Broadway Westminister, CA 92683
for 108 S. Seventh Strcet
6. James Davidson
John Helm 66. Elks BPOE #1198
Fae Rose 411 Broadway
D. & Mary Faurot -
501 North Street 67. Margie Elliot
for 515 Broadway William Morrison
314-316 North 6th Street
57. "Mary Kathleen Davidson , . :
1800 Broadway .68. Gerald & Rosalie Epperson
for 208 N. 7th Street 3255 St. Marys Avenue
for 402-404 N. Fourth Street
88. H. E. Davis and James Q'Donnell o '
Route 2 211 Shepherd Place 69. Milton J. Failor
New London, Missouri 63459 313 North Fourth Street
for 302 South Fifth for 313-315 N. 4th Street
306 South Fifth '
70. Farmers and Merchants Bank
59. Melvin C. Decker 505 Broadway
24 Settlers Trail .
for 513 Church Street 71. Douglas Ferguson
515 Church Street ' 306 N. 7th Street
517-519 Church Street
72. Fifth Street Baptist Church
60 Francis W. Dindia 111 N. Fifth Street

616 Center
for 610-612 Center Street
- 616 Center Street
T 618-620 Center Street
622 Center Street

‘for 111 N, Fifth Street
115 N, Fifth Street
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74. First Prebyterian Church 88. Dr. E. W..Harder
Sixth & Center Streets #1 Hyacinth
for 116-122 N. Sixth Street for 200-202 N. Fourth Street

324 Center Street
75. Hallie Birney Fisher
213 S. Fifth Street 89. James Ernest Hardin
415 N. Sixth Street
76. Sarah Foley
212-214 N. 4th Street 90. Clara E. S. Harris
112 S. Fifth Street
77. Free Public Library of Hannibal
200 South Fifth Street 9T. Frank B. Harvey
511 North Street
78. Albert G. Frier & Margaret M. Frier
322 North Street 92. Charles Y. & ITeen C. Hayden
401 N. 5th Street
79. Frisina Enterprises, Inc.
425 Broadway 93. Robert L. & Susan G. Heck
603-605 Broadway
80. F. Wayne & Margaret Garrett _
RFD 3, West Ely, Missouri 94. F. V. Hedges, life estate
for 509-511 Hill Street then John F. Hedges
502 N. 5th Street
81. Edward & Ellen Gilligan

501-503 North 4th Street 95. W. A. Henderson
525 S. Cleveland #105
82. William M. Gordon Arlington Heights, IL

Vandalia, MO ] for-212 S.-Sixth Street
for 607 Broadway : ' : ,

.96. %Luke 0. Hendren

83. Allen Gottman 220 South Sixth Street
B 419 North Sixth Street A -for 220-222 South Sixth Street
84. Wilfred D. Greenwalt 97. -Violet Hendrix

& Terri T. Rhine _ - 2312 Clay Street

311 North Sixth Street New London, MO

for 211-213 North Seventh Street
85. Thom Gross
617 Center Street 98. Donald Warren Hessee

- 308 N. Seventh
86. James & Yvonne Hamilton i
121 S. Fifth Street 99. Robert Hicks
221 N. Fifth Street
87. Hannibal Chamber of Commerce
623-625 Broadway 100. Mrs. John H. Hill
' 17 N. 4th Street
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101. Carl J. & Mary J. Hirner 114,

506 N. 5th Street
102.

Mr. & Mrs. Robert B. Hog 115.

412 North Street '
103. Aubrey C. & Mary I. Huse
1919 Hope Street
for 212 North Seventh Street

116.

Dan M. & Roberta Huser
3322 Pleasant Street
for 608 Lyon Street

104.
117.

105. John Idleman
905 Center Street

for 520 Center Street

118.

106. Don D. & JoAnn Jackson

Rout~ 2, Palmyra, MO '
for 220 South Seventh Street 119.
107. Brent L. Jacobson

1220 N. Central

for 301 N. Fifth Street

609-611 Broadway

120.

_Otto K. Jahrling
208 North Fifth Street

108.
121.

109. Joseph P. Janes
- & John L. Jdanes
"7 _Route 3
-for 423 Horth 4th Street

122.

-110. Larry Janes 123.

Route 3

for 409 N. 4th Street

124.

111. Max R. Jensen
' ‘312 N. Fifth Street
, 125.
C. Ralph Kendalil Life Estate
215 South Seventh Street

for 213-215 S. Seventh Street

112.

126.
113. Raymond R. & Marjorie Kenison
193 Lake Apollo

for 223 South Sixth Street

Jerome E. Kirberg
610 Hill Street

Norman Kraus
216 N. Fourth
for 216-218 N. Fourth

Lloyd & Florence Lampton
1610 Crescent Drive

‘for 312-314 N. 7th Street

LOM Investments
# One Cardiff Lane
for 123 North Sixth Street

Glenn Ledbetter

941 Baker Street

for 108 N. Sixth Street
512 Center Street

Murl D. Ledders
417 N. Sixth Street

A.L. & Peggy leggett & Kathy Wilson &
3055 Lindenwood Dr. Peggy Wilson
Dearborn, Michigan 48120

for 421-423 Broadway

Edné E. Lehenbauer
302 North 7th Street
fof_415-417 Bird Street

John & Helen Lewellen
512 Broadway

Paulina R. Lewis
616 Bird Street

Gladys E. Lilly
617 Hill Street

Mrs. Vivian Link
210 South Sixth
for 210-210A S. Sixth Street

George W. Lolkes
302 N. Seventh Street
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127. R. E. & Mary Long, Jr. 140. Lavern & Joanne McClour
2100 Crescent 608 Church Street

for 408-410 N. 5th Street
141. Marjorie & Alvin McKinney
128. Margaret Elizabeth Lovett 115 N. Seventh Street
408 Hill Street :
142. Carrie McQueary
129. Gregory Lueckenhoff 319 North Seventh Street
318 N. Seventh Street
143. Opal Melton
130. Paul Lukowski 217 N. Fifth Street
544 Magnolia
for 212-214 South Fifth Street 144. MNelson Health Meriwether
306 N. Sixth Street '
131. dohn Lyng for 306 N. Sixth Street
2400 Broadway ' 308 N. Sixth Street
for 500-502 Broadway
' 145, Scott Meyer II
132. L. Fred Lyng (deceased) 200 S. Seventh Street
400-400A N. 4th Street
146. Glenn R. & Ruth B. Miller

133. James & Billie Mabry McMasters Avenue
403 Broadway -for 701 Church Street
703 Church Street
134.. Maryland Hotel Corporation __ 705 Church Street
. ¢/o R. P. Robey -~-- 707 Church Street
7408 Center Street < S
- © for 404 Center Street ‘ 147. Mariltyn Miller ,
T2 . 408 Center Street Route 1, Farmville, IL 62531
318-324 Broadway for 320 N. Sixth Street
135. Masonic Temple Association 148. "Richard V. Minor
- of Hannibal, Inc. C ¢/o B. L. Minor
117 N. Fifth Street ‘ 321 Rogers, Monroe City, MO 63456

for 323 N. Sixth =Street
136. George K. & Doris Mastin

1512 Robinson 149. James W. & Elizabeth A. Minton
for 506-508 Bird Street 313 North Sixth Street
137. George J. Matyas 150. State Of Missouri
11 Fairoaks ' Division of Employment Security
for 313 N. Fifth Street 203 N. Sixth Street
138. MWilliam L. & Blanche Mayer 151. Lyle J. & June R. Moore
320 N. Fifth Street 420 N. Fourth Street
for 320 N. Fifth Street ) _
423 Hill Street 152. Edward M. Morris, Jr.
1004A Center Street
139. Wallace & Emma McClintock for 305-307 N. Fourth Street
621 Bird Street 407 North Fourth Street

(cont'd)
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Edward M. Morris, Jr. 162. George H. Pace and
1004A Center Harry Carstarphen
for 518-520 North Fifth Street 415 Hafner
516 Lyon Street for 613-621 Broadway
404-406 North Street 112 South Seventh Street
153, Mary Jame Munns 163. Melvin G. Palmer
: 212 South Seventh Street 415 Hill Street
for 413-415 Hill Street
154. Harry P. Musgrove, Jr.
309 North Fifth Street 164. George A. Paschal
. 207 North 5th Street
155. ‘Harry P. Musgrove, St. for 207 North 5th Street
310 North Fifth Street 614 Church Street
156. Harry, Jr. & Harry P. Musgrove, Sr. 165. Lawrence E. & Margaret Payne
310 North Fifth Street 410 Bird Street
for 300 North Fifth Street
166. John Peer
157. Dale H. Neff 418 North Sixth Street
203A South Sixth for 418-420 North Sixth Street
for 221 South Sixth
120 South Sixth Street 167. Emma Jean Penick
203 South Sixth Street 608-610 Center Street
207 South sixth Street
214 South Sixth Street 168. Charles & Ora Pflum
512 Church Street 311 Bird Street
510 Lyon Street : : '
512 Lyon Street 169. - Zella R. Phillips
417 Rock Street
158. Benjamin C. Newell :
102 North Lawn 170. Ornel D. Piper
Kansas City, Missouri 64123 510 Nortn Street
for 118 North Seventh Street
171. Bayard & Mary V. Plowman
159. Cloyd B. Newell 15 Riverpoint
Route 2, New London, MO 63459 for 609-611 Hill Street
for 500 Horth Street or
501 North Fifth Street 172. Edward M. Plowman et al
B & L Building
- 160. J.W. Northbutt for 123-125 North 7th Street
218 North 7th Street
173. James W. Plowman
161. George H. Pace 229 Broadway

for 109 North 7th Street
111 North 7th Street
121 North 7th Street
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188. George J. Rupp, Jr.
"7 407-409 Broadway - -

174. DBr. Edward A. Porter
4]2 Center Street

Mrs. Mary W. Saum

516 St. Joseph Lane
Manchester, Missouri

for 220 South Fifth Street

175. Production Credit Association 189.
110 North 7th Street

176. Marjcrie Ragan
503 Church and
201 South 5th Street ' 190.
for 503 Church Street and

Wi1ll & Theodora Saundefs
303 North Sixth Street

201 South Fifth Street
" 316 South Fifth Street 191. Stables, Schanbacher & Walker
o 100-104 North Sixth Street

177. Owen E. Ransdell for 100 North Sixth Street

1502 Hatch

for 207-209 North 7th Street 192. Robert Schmidt and

Raymond Usher

178.Russell D. Rhino 215 North Sixth Street

205 North 5th Street

193. Ira J. Scoville

179. R.M. Richmond 4203 West Ely Road

414 North 5th Street for-401 Broadway
180. Mrs. Herman Riedel 194, J.V. & Louise M. See

615 Center Street 613 Hill Street
181. G.G. Riegel 195. Katherine Sellers &

Route 2 ' t Sherry Zerbonia

for 407 North Sixth Street 411 North 4th Street
182. Leo W. Riney {deceased) 196. Harry L. & Emma M. Short

205 South Fifth Street 312 Church Street

for 205-207 South Fifth Street for 618 Church Street
183. Gary W. & Mildred Ronimous 197. John & Ruth Shrum

321 North Fifth Street 214 South Seventh Street
184. Roosevelt Federal Savings & Loan 198. Marie Shumate

666 Broadway 509 Church Street

_ for 509-511 Church Street
185. Maurice & Saundra Root
' 419 & 419 A Bird Street 199. Doris Ann Smith
‘ c/o A.F. Smith Roofing

186. Martin P. & Gloria E. Rosenmeyer 320 Center Street

414 North 4th Street ’

200. James & Harley SMith

187. R.J. Rouse. 527 Broadway

210 North 5th Street
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201. Estate of Stanley H. Smith ~ 214. Trinity Protestant Episcopal
811 Reservoir : _ _ Church of Hannibal :
for 504-506-508-510 Broadway 213 North Fourth Street at Bird
, . for 205-207 N. 4th Street
202. James & Elizabeth Spencer 213 North Fourth Street

319 North 6th Street
215. Gladys L. True
203. Marguerite I. Stallard 413 North Fourth Street
514 Center Street :
216. Mrs. Pauline Truitt

204. Margaret L. Stark 321 N. Fourth Street
Vandatia, MO 63382
for 116 South 5th Street 217. Robert Vaughn
718 Birch Street
205. Lester & Richard Stewart and for 120 N. Seventh Street
Robert L. Marion
321 North Seventh Street 218, William & Jane Verrant
25 Holliday
206. Lee Roy & Virgie M. Sullivan for 514 Broadway

504 Bird Street
219. WYWilliam H. Walden,dr.

207. Henry E. sultzman 574 North Street
2100 Crescent Drive
for 412 North Sixth Street 220. J. Hart & Edna J. Walker

520 Broadway
208. Howard Sutton

402 North Street 221. Mary M. Walker
, ‘ 728 Hickory
209. Elizabeth K. Sweets and ' for 308 South Fifth Street
Henry H. Sweets, Jdr. C
207 North Sixth Street 222. Clayton I. & Julia C. Webdell
120 West Woodbine
210. Cecil V. & Gertrude Tate ' Kirkwood, M0 63122
323 N. Fifth Street for 317 North Sixth Street
for 323 N. Fifth Street
206 N. Sixth Street : 223. Gustav & Alta Weiss
600 Winter
211. Virginia B. & George H. Tedrow, Sr. for 422 Church Street
209 North Sixth Street 118 South 5th Street
212. Louis -Thomas & Hazel Thomas 224. Katherine 0'Falion West
and Richard Krigbaum 614 Lyon Street

212 N. Sixth Street
225. HMadeline A. West
213. Clifford C. Treaster, Sr. 321 N. Sixth Street
516 Center Street

Ty P T T T g g e Ao . - A - ” " > - N



R

FHI-4-100 {*1-78}

United States Department of the Interior

Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service o H'CR;;:M'V B “—'—3
MNational Register of Historic Places received i
Inventory—iMomination Form - date entered ‘
CENTRAL PARK HISTORIC DISTRICT Baes et ot 18 2 o
Continuation sheet ' tem number 4 ‘ Page 10

226. Robert & Mary Whitaker
403 N. Sixth Street

227. Anthony L. White
303 N. Seventh Street

228. Minnette H. Wilder
206 N. Seventh Street

229. Bobby D. Williams
222 N. Seventh Street

230. 0Qtis Woodson
- 8560 S. Lavergne
- Burbank, IL 60459
for 203 N. Seventh Street

231. YMCA
4718 Center and
200 Fifth Streets

232. Carl D. & Laura Zeiger
324 Virginia
for 615-615 1/2 Bird Street
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7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

—— excellent — - deteriorated ____ unaltered X _criginal site
— good _.__ruins - X__ altered e moved date
X_ ftair _ __ unexposed -

Describe the present and original {if known) physical appearance

The Central Park neighborhcod of Hannibal includes most of thirty square blocks,
including those parts of the original plat of the city that have remained in
predominantly residential use. The 272 buildings are for the most part not
concentrated in a single time period, but good_ examples from the 1840's to the 1930's
are to be found scattered throuwghout the area.t Most of the buildings employ the
popular styles of American architecture in a vernacular way, bat a few may be
described as high style, including two public buildings by major St. Iouis architectural
firmms. In addition to these buildings, the district includes six churches or former
churches and t.umfy seven camarcial buildings, concentrated for the most part along
Broadway, the major east-west thoroughfare which bisects the district. Only eleven
buildings, all commercial, have been classified as intrusions in that they are out of
keeping with the overall period, scale and character of the district. Near the center
of the district is the Old Federal Building of 1884-88, which has been separately
naminated to the National Register of Historic Places, and two other National Register
properties are immediately adjacent: the old Police Station and Jail at South Fourth
and Church Sts., and the Eighth and Center Streets Baptist Church.

In general, the highest part of the district is the north end, vhere the highest
point is the intersection of Sixth and North Sts. Fram the north end, the district
slopes rather reqularly to the south and the east. Fifth Street is temminated at its
south end by a steep drop. More than half of the building sites in the district have
substantial grade differentials, so that many basements are actually at growmd level
ar above. Many of the houses in the north part of the district have partial views of
the river. The two houses on the north side of Hill St. between Fifth and Sixth stand
about twenty feet above the street level on a partly natural and partly man-made rock
ledge. At the northeast corner of Sixth and Hill Streets, this rock was apparently
quarried at an early period, with the result that the next house to the north, 412 North
Sixth, is even higher above the level of Hill St. and has an unobstructed view of the
entn:e riverfront. IR -

T The focus of the district is of course Cantral Park,
which is a full block, bounded by Fourth, Fifth, Broadway and Cente:r: Sts. It is -
the junction of the camercial, goverrmental, institutional and residential areas
of the city. The park centers on a cast-iron fountain and is also embellished with
a bandstand, a war memorial monument, and a life-size bronze statue of William Henry
Hatch (1833-1894), Hannibal's U. S. Congressman_from 1878 to 1894 and one of the
early advocates of a Department of Agriculture.? At the northeast corer of Fourth
and Broadway is the 1909 City Hall, a two~story neoclassical limestone structure of
broad Corinthian pilasters and rusticated cormers; its entablature has recently been
replaced by a concrete parapet. Its interior is richly appointed, with a bronze
balustrade, marble floors and wainscotting, and murals in the council chamber. The
huilding was designed by Barnett, Haynes and Barnett, the well-known St. Louis firm,
Who had designed Rockcliffe Mansion in Hannibal a decade previously.

: 'I‘bv: north side of the park is a lme of two— and three-story buildings dating
from different periods and serving different functions, but visually tied together by
their red brick and similar scale, At 322 Center St. and Fourth is the old Missouri
Guaranty Building, constructed ¢ 1894 in the Romanesque Revival style, with a row of
stone-trimmed arches along its first floor , and its entrance oriented toward the park.
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Originzlly built for a bank, it is now in residential use. Next west is the three-story
Price Apartments of 1904, while at 412 Center St. is the two-story office of Dr. E. A.
Porter, dating from 1336. The YMCA occupies the northeast cormmer of Fifth and Center,
with a three-bay porch on Center (Photo 31). It was designed in 1910 by Shattuck and
Hussey of Chicago, who did many Y's in the Midwest. The building is in the contemporary
mode of the period, enlivened by beige stucco panels between the windews of the third
floor.

Facing the park along its Fifth $t. side are two churches, two former medical
offices, and the former Park Theatre of 1882, now the Masonic Temple (Photo 3). The
Park Methodist Church (Photo 26)anchors the northwest corner of the park. It was built
in 1881, with a matching rear wing added in 1906. Its scuth and east gable ends have
large circular windows with rectilinear tracery, boarded up since the congregation
moved to a new suburban site in 1968. The tower at the corner of Fifth and Center has
a roundheaded entryway, rectangular louvers, and trlangular parapets supporta_ng a
shingled spire. The Fifth Street Baptist Church is more clearly Ramanesque in msplvatlon,
with an entrance arcade and roundheaded arches on several levels. It was built in 183
to designs of J. C. Swﬂerland, amploying an orange-colored brick that is wnigque in
Hannibal. The central gable is flanked by square towers of unequal height, the north
one terminating in an open arcade, pyramidal roof and finial.

The south side of Broadway opposite the park is a cammercial frontage of mostly
three and six-bay, three-story structures. The character of this stretch was
established about 1855 with the construction of Robards Row, of which #421-423 is a
remaining portion. League's Row, #401~403-405, was built in 1869 (Photo 25): its
three units preserve to varying degrees cornice, frieze and lintels. Number 405 has
its intact shopfront, as does the larger Mozart Hall of 1871 next door at #407-409.
The Elks Building at #411 was refaced in 1925 in the conventicnhal style of the day
but given extra character by motifs from the Egyptian Revival. The last frontage in
the block is the entrance to the old Orpheum Theater, which opened in 1922 (the
auditorium itself is located in midblock). Although the building is now used by a
church, it retains the original marquee, white~glazed terra-cotta exterior with
wadgewooddlke insets, and the faJ.ence-tlled tlcket lobby.

- Eb{tendnng west along Bmadway through the district is a similar mix of nineteenth
‘and early twentieth-century camercial structures. Among the most notable are the
related 1885 structures at 516-518 Broadway (two stories) and 520 Broadway (three
stories); 16 retains its "Thorpe & Koker, St. Iouis" cast-iron columms (Photo 4).
Next door is the Holmes Building of <. 1904, which matches the cornice of #520 but
substitutes a brick parapet and more simplified detailing. Still farther west, the
Security Building at 609-611 Broadway of 1912 has a facade of white—glazed brick, an
elaborately corbelled parapet, and four tile-roofed oriels. The old Rialto Theater in
the same block has lost its interior auditarium but preserves its marquee and its Art
Deco facade of enameled panels in bluc, barquoice and vellow, with red detailing.

- The characteristic early Hannibal house is a tw-*=*;ory gabln-roofed brick structure |
three bays wide and two deep, with a long two-story rear wing that is shaded on one side
by a two-story galle::y Most of these galleries have been altered to same extent, but
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fairly intact exarples include the Kerchival-lakenan-Lathrop House at 407 North Fourth
- St. (Photo 1), the Admiral Coontz Birthplace at 303 North Sixth (Photo 8) and the Van
Swearingen-Dunn House at 322 North St. (Photo 7). Other good examples are the Bacon
House at 220 South Fifth, the League House at 112 South Fifth, the Shackelford-Gleason
House at 422 Church, the J. Carroll Beckwith Birthplace at 400 North Fourth, the James
H. Munson House at 217 North Fifth, and the Eselman-Smith House at 622 Center. The
first named of these houses has another characterisitic feature in that its gable ends
terminate in a parapet which makes a juncture with the front cornice by means of
corbels. The two Helm houses at 415 and 417 North Sixth, which were once twins,
display this corbelled parapet (Fhoto 9); their more unusual feature is that their end
walls are stone to the level of the second story. ‘

A few houses of the period are larger, including the Archibald Robards House at
501-503 North Fourth, which is four bays wide, and the Robert Honeyman House at 414
North Fifth, which has five bays (Photo 10). Perhaps the most stylish house of the
period is only one story tall, the Shackelford-Worrell House at 512 Hill St., five
bays with pedimented gable ends and a pedimented front porch. This house, like the
Coontz and Munson houses mentioned above, also has a doorway camposed of toplight and
sidelights set in a frame of four attenuated pilasters. A similar but simpler five-bay
house around the corner at 415 North Fifth was also built by the Shackelford family,
ard other examples are on cpposite sides of North Seventh St. at #111 and #112. A1l
~ these houses are brick, and all are painted white ar yellow and probably have been

for many years. The "white town" described by Mark Twain in Life on the Mississippi
probably was predaminantly frame, but even the brick houses may have contributed to
the overall color impression.

. The Gothic Revival came tentatively to Hannibal, as to the rest of Missouri. The
chapel of Immaculate Conception parish (Roman Catholic) at 512 Church St. was finished
in 1854 in a transitional style that could have been thirty years earlier (Photo 5).
Basically temple-like in proportion, the building has a pediment to the street but
pointed windows set into rectangular window recesses. The pointed toplight over the
door has fanlike mullions. Far more ambiticus was the Episcopalian Trinity Church,
campleted in 1860 (Photo 6). Like many other churches of the denamination in this
period, it follows the models of rural English parish churches of the middle ages,
with a central tower facing the street, buttresses at the cormers of the tower and
between the side windows, and an open beamed ceiling. In the later part of the
century dormers were added to the roof, creating a clerestory effect inside, and in
1899 the top stage of the tower was added. It is of more finely dressed stone, with
crenellations and cormer pinacles. The windows of the nave are outstanding examples

~of the late-Victorian style, mostly by Charles Booth of London, but including cne by
Iouis Camfort Tiffany. '

At about the time Trinity Church was under construction, a Gothic cottage was
being built at 520 Canter St. for William Marsh (Photo 12). It has a central gable
and tidor labels cver the front windows like similar cottages illustrated by A. J.
Downing, but it also has a roundheaded gable window and Italianate porch, while the
doorvay and the woodwork in one roam are Greek Revival. This hybrid structure is
currently undergeoing restoration. ‘
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The Italianate style began to be seen in the years just before the Civil War and
became dominant immediately afterward and for the next twenty years. Many of these
houses are essentially the three~bay vernacular house described above, but given much
taller proportions, hipped roofs, and new details such as bracketed cornices, decorated
lintels, and sometimes arched doorwavs. Two fine examples of this three-bay style, _
both now being restored, are the Robert Bridgford House, 217 Scuth Sixth St. (Photo 14),
and the Barrack-tiart House, 200 South Seventh St. (Photo 16). The first J. J.

" Cruikshank, Jr. House at 300 South Fifth St., although somewhat altered in front,
retains its original two-storied gallery and its carriage house (Photo 19). Variants
of the three-bay house lacking the side gallery are the J. T. Davis House.at 312 North
Fifth (Photo 13), which is also being restored by the owners, the third Eelm House,

at 319 North Sixth, the Frank Hearn House at 300 North Sixth, and the Brown-Baskett
House at 121 South Fifth. The Davis House is one of few unpainted brick houses in
the district; here the brick is an unusual coral shade.

Wealth hrought to Hannibal by the lumbering industry prompted the construction of
even larger Italianate houses. The lamb-Munger House at 521 Bird St. (Photo 18),
appears to be the biggest of them, because it is almost on the sidewalk on two sides.
It has four bays facing Bird St. and five facing North Sixth. It also has the largest
cupola, a feature locally called an observatory, once more camon than now, buz still
to be seen on four of the most prominent houses in the district. BAnother is the
Stillwell—Garth House at 213 South Fifth (Photo 17). John Garth extensively
embellished the interior of this house in the later nineteenth century with stained
glass and grained woodwork, and ownership by one family since 1924 has preserved much
of this. A third cupolaed house is the one designed by John M. Patton for John L.
RoBards at 215 North Sixth St. (Photo 20). It is a textbook example of the
Ttalianate style, with its porih and brackets intact as they were illustrated in the
1884 History of Marion County.® It was the only house in Hannibal so hoanored. It has
five bays by three as does the J. B. Brown House at 321 North Fourth, which is nearly
as well preserved and sports a finial at the peak of its cupola. Other five-bay
Ttalianate houses are the Draper-Stevens House at 311 Bird, which has an oriel over
the center door and a vestigial cupola (Photo 11); and the old Catlplic Rectory at 120
South Sixth (Photo 15). - - R T e T

~ —-"The three-bay Rowe-Brewington House at 422 North Fifth St. (Photo 21) lost its
cupola in the 1920's but the windows from it are still stacked in the attic. This
‘house has same interior details from a remodeling early in this eentury, including
Ionic colums between the two parlors. The porch also seems to date fram that
ge;:iod, as do many in the district, apparently a popular time for modernizing that

The Second Empire style, while not as popular as the Italianate in Hannibal,
nevertheless left three notable houses here. The David Dubach House at 221 North
Fifth St. (Photo 22) is in plan an Italian Villa type, but it also has a bell-cast mansard
roof; originally the off-center tower was mansarded as well. Parquet floors, fine mantels
and other original features can be seen on the main floor of this house. At 502 North

— .
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Fifth St., the G. W. Storrs House (Photo 23) is the familiar three bays by two
with galleried rear wing. Apparently one story with mansard in front, it is
actually two full stories on the side, where the grourd drops abruptly. Both these
houses date from around 1870. The Joseph Rowe House at 306 North Sixth St. (Photo
24) dates fram at least fifteen years later, when the style was already samewhat
passc¢. In contrast to the Storrs House, it exaggerates its height by placing the
entrance at the highest point on the site. Only three bays wide, it is six bays
deep with an ell. It has been exceptionally well maintained, its mansard still
displaying varicolored slates set in patterns.

Judge Rowe, whose tastes seem to have been rather conservative, also built the
Italianate house next door to his own at 308 North Sixth and also the two rental
properties at 302 and 306 North Seventh St. in 1885, samewhat Eastlakean but still
in the basically Italianate mold of the Robert Brewington House of 1865 next door at

308 North Seventh. In the same year, James Plowman was building his own new house
at 300 North Seventh (Photo 27), similar in massing to its neighbors but stylistically
reflecting the irmovations of Richard Norman Shaw and other progenitors of the Queen
Ame style. It has irregular massing, an additional dormer on the south side, and
shingles and coffering in the hipped gables, contrasting with the dark red brick
below. The richly detailed porch with paired Ionic colums was added about 1900
and increases the interest of this well-preserved row of four houses.

Most of the later Queen Anne houses in this district were frame in contrast to

the earlier preference for hrick. The most outstanding of them is the W. H. Pettibone House
.at 313 North Fifth St. (Photo 28). This house was built' about 1889 on the site of an
“earlier house that had been occupied by Mr Pettibone's father, and possibly the present
Trear wing was retained from the earlier structure. The new front part combines clapboard
. siding with areas of shaped shingles and has at the scutheast: comer a semicircular tower
“with a nipple-shaped roof. A broad porch with spindle frieze wraps around the front

(east) and south sides of the house. Inside, the hallway and. front parlors have
_elaborate Queen Anne mantels and other appointuents. The dining rocam and library
“appear to date fram a remodeling of about 1500, the former having neoclassical paneling
“and colums flanking a large north stained—-glass window, while the latter is a museun~
" quality example of the more innovative style of the period that is called Arts and
“Crafts, Craftsman, or Stickley, camplete with matching leaded windows and bookcase

doors and glazed tile fireplace surrourd, all in stylized plant motifs.

] At the corner of the same block, 301 North Fifth St. was built about 1895 for
Pettibone's younger brother Albert (Photo 30). It is smaller but related in style,
its facade focusing on a square three-story tower. It too has been little altered,
‘as is true of the similar house built for Mrs. Benton Coontz at-401 North Sixth
"{Photo 29). The latter retains the characteristic Queen Anne motif of the sumburst
set in the pediment over the porch entry.

T &maller but characteristic Queen Anne houses in the district include the Thomas
_D. Wilson House at 319 North Sixth, whose hip-roofed front porch still has a trellis
‘with climbing roses; the story-and-a-half Harry K. Iogan House at 416 Narth Sixth; the
two-story Long-Schweitzer House at 317 North Fourth, which still has its gas outlets,
and the cottage-like Craig-Welsh House =t 616 Center St. The predominance of frame
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construction in this style has meant that Queen Anne houses have been more subject than
others to disfiguring external alterations, but even these houses have often retained
significant details inside or under various cammercial siding materials. The most
dramatic case of this is the Carter-Frazer House at 210 North Fifth St., now a
featureless mass of composition stone, grey and pink asbestos shingles, and a fiberglass
porch roof on metal poles. The interior, however, has extensive oak woodwork that has
been refinished by the current owners, including sliding doors, parquet floors, and
elaborate fireplaces with glazed tile surrounds and beveled mirrors. Iess seriously

. disfigured Queen Anne houses are the William T. Jackson House at 501 North Fifth, the
William T. Carnbs House at 511 North Fifth, the William B. Curd House at 307 North
Seventh, and the Joseph Brinkman House at 312 North Seventh. All these houses could
be returned tc their original appearance by sensitive restoration.

By the turn of the century, most new construction in the district was
multi-family, but a few notable single-family houses continued to be built. Jchn M.
Patton (1837-1898), the builder and architect who has been mentioned earlier in
comection with the John RoBards House,> did one of his last houses in 1895 for J. O.
Green at 214 North Fifth St. It is another house with beautiful cak woodwork, but the
facade, only two bays wide, is arbitously Chateavesque, faced with rusticated

limestone. Elaborate oak paneling around the entry has two pointed arches set in a
round arch, windows have diamond-shaped panes, and the dommers have pyramidal roofs

topped by finials.

Thamas and Robert Robinson, twin brothers, built an unusual double house in 1902.
It has a symmetrical elevation of a porch or ambra between two semicircular bows, but
its interior is asymmetrical, with one entrance at 201 South Fifth and the other at
503 Church. Original shingles on the upper floor have been cgvered with alumimm
siding, but overall the house retains the massing and details of the Shingle Style.

, Beginning about 1910 a number of houses were built in the district which reflect
the influence of the Prairie Style in their simple lines and lack of applied ornament,
although they do not have the low propcriions and advanced planning associated with
Frank Lloyd Wright. Most are brick and show exceptionally fine masonry and joinery.
The Herman Reidel House at 513 Center St. is known to have been built by Albert
‘Ardris, and perhaps his standards had a salutary effect on other contractors. Other
houses of this type are the Bourn-Norton House at 110 North Sixth, which is brick
below and stucco above; the yellow-brick Dr. Guss House at 309 North Fifth; the Burns—
Bogan House at 400 North Fifth; the George M. Long House at 222 South Fifth; the -
Vincent E. Jessup House at 511 North Street; the John Fusco House, 116 South Seventh; ,
ard the two-family Draudt-Digel House at 521 Church. Related to these is the Florence
Grisso House at 310 North Fifth, a "shirtwaist" house of the Kansas City type, stucco
below and shingled above, built as a two-family structure.

C. Albert Trowhridge built a house in about 1925 at 501 North Street in what has
came to be called the Period style of the 1920's, deriving its broad proporticns,
three-bay symmetry ard hipped roof fram the English Georgian, but ummistakably of the
Twenties, in spite of the small-pane windows and pedimented door frame.
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The last noteworthy house in the district was designed by Armold Baschen in 1937
for william C. Henn at 215 North Fifth. Benn was a dealer in electrical appliances,
and he wanted an _all-electric house based on a "hame of tomorrow" he had seen in a
recent magazine.” The resulting two-story, L-shaped brick structure has stripes of
contrasting yellow brick, a flat roof with parapet, and glass brick windows, all -
features of the Art Deco style.

Beginning about 1880, double houses and other multifamily structures began to be
built in this district, almost all of them by wealthy persons already residing nearby’
and mostly intended to appeal to professionals and other upper-middle-class tenants.
John RoBards, for example, built an Ttalianate double house at 221-223 North Sixth St.
next door to his own home. It has paired central doors flanked by two-story bay
windows. At the same time, Robert Bridgford built a six-bay Italianate double house
for his son at 314-316 North Fifth St. Frederick Dubach, who lived in the much-altered
house at 300 North Fifth, built at least seven rental properties, beginning with
individual Italianate houses at 618 Center, 403 North Fifth and 409 North Fifth, and
continuing with Queen Anne multi-family structures at 313 North Fourth, 417-419 Hill,
415-417 Bird, ard 615-615% Bird. His son built the most interesting of these in 1910
at 609-611 Bird. It is brick, two stories, with a five-bay facade consisting of a
central entry flank-d by hip-roof additional dormers set in a high hipped roof, and corner
verandahs. The Robinsons built a brick structure at 212-214 South Fifth St. near tneir own
house, recalling its design with semicircular bows flanking the centrel porch. Jefferson
B. Brown, the son of J. B. Brown, built 402-404 North Fourth diagonally opposite his
father's house, in a Beaux-Arts style of yellow brick decorated with heavy stone lintels
ard a garlanded frieze. The largest building in this style was the Branham flats at
701-707 Church, built about 1904 by Thamas Branham, who lived at 116 South Seventh
nearby. It has Ionic half-colums flanking the doors, decorative tabernacles on the
second story, and a parapet above a dentilled cornice. Contrasting with this
white-painted design is the contemporary shingle-style double house built at 404-406
North Fifth St. by Maria Burns, who lived next door. It has a dark-red brick lower
story with patterned shingles on the second story and front gables. The most
pretentious of these structures is the large brick structure at 220-222 Socuth Sixth
St. (Photo 2) built in 1908 by Charles Anderson, the son-in-law of Robert Bridgford
and then occupant of the Bridgford house across the street. It centers on a giant
Ionic portico only three colums wide, an odd mumber by classical rules but appropriate
o the double entrance it frames. Other double houses worthy of note are those at
611-613 Church (c. 1908) and 211-213 North Seventh St. (1904), which are nearly
identical in elevation, and the group of three adjacent, similar structures at 123-125
North Seventh, 707 Center and 709-711 Center, all built in 1910.

- The process of residents adding new buildings to the neighborhood may be seen to
have culminated in the construction of the John Garth Memorial Library, built in 1901
by Mrs. Garth at 200 Scuth Fifth St., across from her own hame. It is an outstanding

- amall evample of the Beaux Arts style, designed by the St. Iouis firm of Mauran,
Russell ard Garden. The L-shaped two-story yellow-brick building confronts the corner
of Church St. with a semicircular Iocnic colonnade and full entzblature, while its
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parapet is enlivened by a rounded broken pediment, balls and urns, and a small
central obelisk. The side elevations are enriched with rusticated corners,
stone escutcheons, and panels inscribed with the names of Classical and English
authors. The lobby is ecirculr in plan, with dark cak paneling and a mosaic
floor centering on a large brass memorial roundel. Two reaading rooms on the
main floor and three meeting rooms upstairs retain most of their original
fittings, including their fireplaces.

Seven new buildings have been erected in the district since its period of
significance, and another four have been so drastically altered as to have lost
their original significance. All areg commercial structures located on or
close to Broadway, the main thoroughfare passing through the district. They
are briefly described as follows:

1. Former Maytag Store, 413-415 Broadway, a three-story double-front
commercial building built c. 1855 but remodeled c. 1935 as a one-story front
with pedimented parapet.

2. (Third Farmers and Merchants Bank, 505 Broadway at S. Fifth St., 1970:
one story, brick with false mansard, metal drive-in windows at rear.

3. 512 Broadway, remodeled several times from c. 1910 original building:

a one-story storefront of concrete stucco and corrugated metal panels framin
shop windows. Visible at middle of Photo 4. _

4. 514 Broadway, remodeled in 1970's from 1893 original: one-story
recessed storefront topped by tall false mansard of aluminum paneling. Visible
at middle of Photo 4 to left of 512 Broadway.

5. Carol Lee Donut and Coffee Shop, 527 Broadway at S. Sixth: a double-
width modular housing unit moved to site in 1978 from previous use elsewhere;
vertical barn siding, aluminum clapboard, artificial brick, false mansard
(Photo 32).

6. Roosevelt Federal Savings and Loan, 666 Broadway at N. Seventh, 1959:
one-story red brick seven-bay Colonial Revival structure w1th low central
pediment and glazed cupola.

7. White Star Laundry, 106 North Fourth Street at Center: south wing of U-
shaped structure is c. 1880 two-story brick commercial building refronted in
concrete block and enameled metal panels; north wings are one-story and steel
construction, including loading dock (Photo 33).

8. The Prudential, 205-207 South Fifth St., 1957: one-story, 5-bay flat-
roofed structure of milticolored composition brick and aluminum framing.

9. LDM Building, 123 North Sixth Street at Center, 1960: two-story office
with basement level exposed on south side; glass-paneled front, brick sides,
conerete block rear (Photo 34).

10. Missouri Division of Employment Securlty, 203 North Sixth Street at
Center, 1961: one-story office building in brick, limestone arnd sandstone with
aluminum framing and trim.

11. Production Credit Association, 110 North Seventh Street, 1958: one-~
story buff brick office building with front finished in red granite veeneer,
ceramic tiles and aluminum framing.
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In summary, the Central Park Historie District contains a concentration of

notable buildings, many of which would be individually eligible for the
National Register on the basis of architectural merit, but which gain in
significance by their proximity to each other and by their setting among lesser
buildings of complimentary date, scale and style.

Notes

Dates and owners of buildings in this distriet have been established by an
inventory conducted in 1979 and 1980 under a grant from the state's Office
of Historic Preservation. More detailed information on each structure in
this district is filed with that office in Jefferson City, Missouri.

Allen Johnson and Dumas Malone, eds., Dicticnary of American Biography
{New York: Scribners, 1931), Vol. IV, pp. 394-395.

Hannibal Courier-Post , October 5, 1909 and June 30, 1938. These and

other newspaper articles cited in this nomination were located by Roberta
Hagood. Her notes are on file in the Hannibal Public Library.

R. I. Holcombe, History of Marion County, Missouri (8t. Louis: E. F.
Perkins, 1884; reprinted 1979 with index by Walsworth Publishing Co.,
Marceline, Mo.).

Hannibal Morning Journal , Februry 4, 1898.

Reminiscences of Ida C. Henn, widow of the builder.
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Specitic dates 18}9; 1936 - 1938 Builder/Architect

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph} o L

The buildi_ngs in the Central Park district represent three major periods of Hamnibal's
development. he first was the pericd before the Civil War, the "white town drowsing
in the sunshine of a summer's morning" that was immortaiized by Mark Twain.? Many of
the people he wrote about lived in this part of town, and several of their houses
have survived. Aafter the Civil War, the lumber industry caused Hamnibal to boam.
Owners of lumberyards, lawyers, and retail merchants prospered, and many of them
built ostentatious homes in this part of town. By the turn of the century, the
public image of the city was brought up to date with a new City Hall and Public
Library, but at the same time the exclusivity of the neighborhood was lessened as
many of the old families built camfortably large multi-family dwellilngs on subdivided
lots nearby. The neighborhood has not been substantially altered sihce that time
except as it has became less fashionable and less well maintained. ition in
the Mational Register of Historic Places may play an important part in reversing this
decline. ‘

Hannibal was laid out in a conventional grid pattern by Moses Bates in 1819, but
it did not develcp to any extent until 1836, when it was replatted by Stephen Glascock.
In 1837, the place was incorporated as a town, and incorporation as a city followed in
1845. Glascock presented Block 24 in his plat "to be used for the sole behoof of the
city as a public ground."3 This provision, and its distance fram the original business
district, prabably saved Central Park from becoming the site of a courthouse, the
usual fate of town squares in the Midwest. In those days the center of activity was
the intersection of Main (Second) Street and Hill Street, now the center of the Mark
Twain Historic District. Today that area is entirely camercial and the greatest
concentration of early residential structures is within the Central Park district,
which was early -~onsidered to be a "pleasant and healthy portion of the city."4
Perhaps the oldest brick house in town is 303 Narth Fourth, at the comer of Bird.

It was built scmetime between 1834 and 1845 by Thecphilus Stone (1804-1883), who
Cperated the first ferryboat here in 1831. 2Another early one is 322 North Street,
home of Thomas Van Swearingen, first judge of the Court of Cammon Pleas (Photo 7).

Mark Twain wrote about many of these early residents.® He left Harmibal in 1853
but visited on five subsequent occasions and kept in touch through letters. The
homes of many of these people have only recently been identified. Dr. James
Rackcliffe (1795-1860), whose three sons all suffered from insanity, lived at 400
North Fourth. This house is also known as the birthplace of James Carroll Beckwith
(1852-1917), a well-known portraitist of the era, who became a friend of Samuel
Clemens in later life.® Across the street, 411 and 413 North Fourth (Photo 1) were
built by brothers of lLaura Hawkins, the model for Becky Thatcher. She herself (1837-
1928) died at 210 North Fifth St., the hame of her son Judge Iouis E. Frazer. The
family of Margaret Koenemann, another schoolmate, cwned the “tensment" or rented
house at 307-309 Bird St. Artemisia Briggs (1831-1910) turned down Sam Clemens's
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immature proposal of marriaye and instead married William J. Marsh, who built for her
the house at 520 Center St. {Photo 12). William T. League {(1832-1279) , another
childhood friend, bought the house at 112 South Fifth in 1851, while next door at
116 South Fifth lived the Stephens family; Edwin Stephens (b. 1834) briefly

joined the confederate army of General Sterling Price in company with Clemens.

In the older generation was Joseph Sylvester Buchanan (b. 1806), who may have
built the house at 214 South Sixth, and who published same early newspapers in
Hannibal, giving Orion Clemens, Mark Twain's brother, his start in the business. Dr.
Hugh Meredith (1806-1864) lived at 212 South Sixth; he attended John Marshall Clemens,
Mark Twain's father, in his last illness in 1847. He had known the Clemens family in
Florida, Missouri, before they moved to Hannibal, as had the family of Benton Coontz
(1838-1892), who became mayor in 1877. BHe lived at 610 Hill St. and at the end of
his life built the Queen Anne house at 401 North Sixth (Photo 29). Zachariah Draper
was an intimate of John Marshall Clemens, a stoLekeeper and the town's postmaster.
He subdivided the west side of Seventh Street in 1853 and owned much other land
around town as well; 210 North Fourth and 513 Church were probably his tenements,
while 311 Bird (Photo 11) was possibly occupied by members of his own family. Even
more prosperous was Robert F. Lukenan {1820-188Z), who owned and may have lived
briefly in 403 North Fourth St. (Photo 1). He scld the house in 1857 to John Lentner’
Lathrop, whe like him was an officer in the Hannibal and St. Joseph Railroad. The
house is thus associated with three towns in Missouri: Lakenan and lentner in Shelby
County, and ]’.athrog in Clinton County, all founded by the railroad. Ancther of the
“three ‘'rich' men"’ in town was Col. Archibald Robards (1787-1862), a flour miller
and mayor in 1846 and 1854, who lived at 501 North Fourth St. His flour brought
glory to Hannibal by winning the First Prize at the New York World's Fair in 1853.

His son John (1838-1925), a lawyer, built the fine Italianate house at 215 North
Sixth (Photo 20), where Mark Twain visited him. He pretentiously changed the
spelling of his last name to RoBards, inspiring Twain in "The Privgte History of a
€ampaign that Failed" to write about a Dunlap who became d'un Lap.® John RcBards got
part of his wealth fram his father-in-law, John B. Helm, a Kentucky lawyer who
arrived in Hannibal-in 1852 and soon prospered as a building contractor, railroad
director, and judge of the Court of Cammon Pleas. Three houses he built for members
of his family still stand at 415, 417 and 419 North Sixth (Photo 9 shows the first
two). In Kentucky he had known Abraham Lincoln, who visited him in Hannibal in 1859,

. None of the public buildings from Mark Twain's era have surviwved, but two churches
in this district date from the 1850's. The Immaculate Conception parish was established
in 1851, and the church was completed in 1854 (Photo 5). It became a chapel when a
larger bu.lldmg was purchased in 1880. Trinity Church still serves the Episcopal
parish formed in 1845 (Photo 6). The uilding's cornerstone was laid in 1858 and the
canpleted sanctuary was dedicated in 1860, but with the outbreak of the Civil War, the
congregation was unable to pay for it. The building was s0ld for debt, and only the
efforts of Rector J. W. Dunn to raise money in the east enabled it to be redeemed.?

In 1866 Dunn bought 322 North Street, the old Van Swearingen house.

The Civil War was highly disruptive to Hamnibal's life. Most residents were
Confederate sympathizers; before his untimely death, Dr. Marion Brown (1824-1861)
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flew a Confederate flag from his office window in defiance of the occupying Union
troops, protected by his status as the only doctor in town. Brown's widow opened
his house at 301 North Sixth (Photo 8) to boarders, and in 1864 it became the
birthplace of Admiral Robert E. Coontz, the son of Benton Coontz. Admiral Coontz
(d. 1935) rose to become Commander-in-Chief of the U. S. fleet after World War I
and is one of Hannibal's favorite sons.l0 This house was probably built with money
brought back from California, where many Hannibalians had sought their fortunes
during the Gold Rush. Marion Brown's brother James Burket Brown (1827-1915), another
fortunate '4%er, invested his proceeds in a drugstore, which is now the oldest
continuous kusiness in Hannibal. He built 121 South Fifth Street just before the
Civil War and 321 North Fourth Street about ten years later. Both are large
Italianate affairs. J. B. Brown served as mayor fram 1882 to 1885 and again in
1888 and founded a family that was praminent for several generations.

By the 1860's houses the size of J. B. Brown's were no longer unusual in Hannibal.
Beginning almost as soon as the railrocad had opened to the west, and expanding
rapidly after the war, the lumber industry transformed the town. Hamnibal's position
on the great river enabled it to capitalize on rafts of logs that were floated down
from Wisconsin and Minnesota by sawing them into lumber and shipping the product
westw=rd. Many of the proprietors built houses camensurate with their prosperity
in this district, which was fashionable but in easy distance of their sawmills and
Iurberyards along Bear Creek a few blocks to the south. It was also close to their
increasingly important financial interests downtown.

Both partners of Rowe and Toll lived in this neighborhood as did both of HBearne,
Herriman & Co., and D. Dubach & Co; Hamnibal Iammber and J. J. Cruikshank were also
based here. Another lurberman was James Barrack, who built 200 Scuth Seventh (Photo
16) in 1867, a few years before his death. Joseph Rowe (1812-1898) had two houses in

- the neighborhood: 422 North Fifth, built in 1870 and later given to his daughter
Clara Brewington (Photo 21), and 306 North Sixth, built abcmf 1886 after Rowe's
return from a few years' residence in St. Iouis (Photo 24}, 1 nowe also kuilt the
twin Italianate houses at 302 and 306 North Seventh and the apartment at 314-316
North Sixth. He was mayor in 1881 and several times judge. His partner Alfred
Toll bought the house at 221 South Fifth., He later formed Badger ILumber with John

. Ure, who lived at 407 North Sixth. Frank P. Hearne (1827-1895) built 300 North
Sixth St. about 1871. John Herriman's own house has been replaced, but those of
his son Edward (1858-1897) at 318 North Seventh and his son-in-law William B. Curd
(1849-1916) at 307 North Seventh survive; the two younger men formed a successor
firm which failed in 1896, contributing to Edward Herriman's early death. David
Dubach (1826-1897) and his brother Frederick (1828-1909) lived diagonally opposite
each other at 221 (Photo 22) and 300 North Fifth, respectively. Children of Swiss
immigrants, they also ran a contracting firm which built a large number of rental
properties in the neighborhood as well as the Park Theatre at 121 North Fifth
(now the Masonic Temple, Photo 3), which drew nationally-known stars such as Lillian
Russell and Victor Herbert from its opening in 1882 until its closing in 1924.
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The Cruikshank lumber firm went through three generations beginning when John J.
Cruikshark, S5r., moved to Hannibal from Alton, Illincis, in 1856. He built an
Italianate house at 121 South Sixth, while his son J. J., Junicr, built a larger
and more lavish one at 300 South Fifth (Photo 19), both about 1865. The younger .
Cruikshank (d. 1924) later built"Rockcliffe," the largest and most lavishly appointed
house in northeast Missouri, recently naminated to the National Register of Historic
Places. The Hannibal Lumber Conpany was formed about 1880 by Frank Hearne and A. W.
Pettibone. Pettibone's sons both built Queen Amne houses on North Fifth St., A. W.,

Junior, at #301 {Photo 30) and W. B. at #313 (Photo 28). Wilson B. Pettibone (d. 1946)

was one of Hannibal's greatest philanthropists, giving among other things over 240
acres for Riverview Park and constructing the Laura J. Pettibone School for the public
school system. .

The general prosperity brouwght to Hannibal by lumbering carried over to other
husinesses as well, enabling people like the lawyer Alfred Lamb to build houses
like his large Italianate one at 521 Bird St. (Photo 18) that oould hold their own
in the increasingly prestigious neighborhood. Perhaps the most successful of these
businessmen was John H. Garth, Jr. {(1837-1899). The son of a successful tobacco
merchant and brother of David Garth who built 422 Narth Fourth, he deidlt in lumber
through the firm cf Davis, Bockee and Garth, banking as a founder of the Farmers
and Merchants Bank and the Missouri Guarantee Savings and Building Association, and
quarrying as president of the Hannibal Lime Company. His country house, "Woodside,"
on the outskirts of Hannibal in Ralls County, is already on the National Register
of Historic Places. His town house was at 213 South Fifth (Photo 17),and in 1902
his widow, the former Helen Kerchival, entertained Mark Twain there. She commemorated
her hushand by donating the upper stage of the tower of Trinity Church and the
outstanding Beaux Arts building for the free public library. Garth's associates in
the Hannibal Lime Campany were the Munger brothers, William'A. (1838-1911), who built
207 North Fifth St. about 1870, and Lyman P (1836-1906), who later bought the Lamb
house at 521 Bird, on the opposite corner of the same block.

Henry C. Schultz, who built 514 North St. sbout 1870, was another businessman
who had a hand in the lumber business while his main concern was his furniture store,

- which still survives as Avery-Burch. Other prominent early businessmen in this

district included James T. Davis of 312 North Fifth (Photo 13), captain and part-
owner of the ferry to Illinois; Robert Brewington (1808-1900) of 308 North Seventh,
who cperated a harness ard saddlery business, held many public offices, and was the
foreman of the U. 8. grand jury in St. Louis which brought to light the whiskey ring
.scandal; James W. Plowman of 300 North Seventh (Photo 27), who founded insurance and
real estate busiresses that are still operated by his descendants; and G. W. Storrs
(1830-1894), proprietor of the Planters Hotel and founder of the Storrs—Hinton Ice
and Coal Campany. Storrs built 502 North Fifth, and thirty years later his son built
412 North Street next door.

In 1874, Robert and Thomas Robinson, twin brothers born in 1848 in Ireland,
organized Robinson Brothers painting and paper hanging, another firm that is still-
in business. About 1904 they built the unusual double house at 201 South Fifth and
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503 Chuxch. At the other end of Fifth St., 512-514 North Fifth, Albert and Rudolph
Eichenberger had built ancther double house about ten years earlier. In spite of their
names, they were unrelated but were both Swiss immigrants, partners in a tobacco fim,
and were married to sisters.

The 200 block of South Sixth Street had a particular concentration of praminent
businessmen and public officials, beginning with drygoods store owner Thomas K
Colliins (1822-1885) at #203; he was mayor in 1874. At #209 lived Patrick Farrell,
a saloonkeeper who had enough success to build a prominent commercial building at |
Main and Broadway. Robert Bridgford (1819-1878), a grocer, built #217 (Photo 14), .
and it remained the property of his descendants until this decade. On the east side
of the street (Photo 2}, Edward Chevalier, a carpenter, built the chalet~style #208
about 1880 and sold it to Edgar E. Ray, a druggist, six years later. Next door at
$210 lived Wilbur F. Chamberlain, postmaster from 1880 to 1887 during the constructicn
of the new (now 0ld} Federal Building and mayor in 1893. Fram 1881 to 1892, #212 was
the hame of Gilchrist Porter (1817-1894), U. S. Congressman of the Whig party in 1852
and 1854 and three times circuit court judge, one of Hannibal's most respected
citizens. During these same years, #214 was the hame of Chawmcy Harris, a confectioner
and father-in-law of one of the younger Cruikshanks. :

At 300 South Sixth Street rises the imposing bulk of the former Immaculate
Conception Church, now shorn of its spire and used as a bowling club. It was built
in 1876 as the Congregational Church and was at that time the most prominent in
Hannibal. In 1880 the building was sold to the Immaculate Conception Roman Catholic
parish, and it served them until the 1950's. In addition to their chapel, the
parish also built an ixrpoging Italianate rectory at 120 South Sixth St. (Photo 15).
Other churches were prospering during this period; both the Baptist Church at 111
Narth Fifth (Photo 3) and the Presbyterian at 120 North Sixth built new buildings
in the 1870's and then replaced them with larger ones in the 1890's, a process that
the Park Methodist Church (Photo 26) had already undergone between the 1840's and
1881.

In the 1890's, shoe manufacturing had begun to replace lumbering as the mainstay
of the econamy, and the shoe factories were actually built over some of the former
Iumber vards. The biggest was the Bluff City Shoe Campany, which began as the cobbler
shop of John Logan, Jr. In 1892 he bought the old High School at 418-420 North Sixth,
which had been built in the late 1860's and converted to residential use in 1886. His
brother Harry tuilt 416 North Sixth at the same time, and his son Walter built 513
North Street to the rear about 1915. The campany merged with International Shoe in
1925, C :

By the early twentieth century, society and business indisputably centered on
Central Park. It was a stage for civic events and an integral part of the kusiness
district. "To get the most ou .Of Saturday night, one had to at least visit the
dime stores and Central Park."!? It was the natural location for the largest movie
palace in town, the Orpheum, which opened in 1922 and effectively killed the old Park
Theatre. Fraternal organizations had already located here, notably the Elks at 411
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Broadway, and the "Mozart Hall," a public meeting room at 407-499 Broadway was built as

' early as 1871. A new phase of social activify began with the organization of the
Labinnah Ciub ir 1907. It was in effect a downtown country club, formed "for the
oromoticn and enjoyment of social intercourse, good fellowship, innocent diversion,
recreation and amusement.” The club, whose name was Hannibal spelled backward, bought
the old hotel at 517-519 Broadway and remodeled it to accomodate a bowling alley,
reception and game rooms, and a grand ballroom. The membership, largely resident in
this district, was so prominent that it was listed in toto in the history of the period
Doctors found Central Park the ideal location, and many of them built their offices
around it, including Dr. E. A. Porter at 412 Center St. in 1936, Dr. Francis E. Sultzman
at 115 North Fifth Street in 1938, Dr. Fdward Hornback at 500 Broadway in 1998 (both
Photo 3), Dr. Lewis H. Tutt at 106 North Sixth St, in 1905, and Dr, James J. Bourn at
110 North Sixth about 1920. The DeGaris Building at 504-510 Broadway was built in 19G0
specifically to provide additional space for doctors (Photo 4).

1

The civic development of Hannibal was in large measure due to the generosity of
residents of this district. Riverview Park and the Public Library have already been
mentioned in this regard. The hospital was given by Aaron R. Levering and the
Catholic high school by Anna and Mary McCooey, whose families lived on Fifth St, in
houses now gone. The YMCA building at the corner of Fifth and Center (Photo 31) was
largely the result of George Y. Dulany's challende grant of three sevenths ?E the
cost. The resulting building "would be a credit and ‘an honor to any city.” The
YMCA now plans to relocate., Perhaps the most unusual such gift was that of Henrietta
Myers, widow of a German tavern owner, who in 1903 bequethed the ground at the
corner of Fourth and Broadway for a new City Hall. A bond issue in 1209 made the
present building possible. ‘ ' '

The new City Hall was built with the best materials and by the best architects:
available. It reflected the residents' pride in their city., Since its opening in
1910, however, much of that attitude has been eroded, especially in relation to the
Central Park district. Now the old neighborhood is once more being seen as a
valuable asset. Placement on the National Register of Historic Places will make
that judgement official,

Notes

1. Three histories of Hannibal have been printed, the earliest by R. I, Holcombe in
History of Marion County, Missouri (St. Louis: E. F, Perkins, 1884); reprinted
with Index in 1979 (Marceline, Mo,: Walsworth Publishing Company)$-A Mirror of
Hannibal, edited and published by C. P, Greene (Hannibal, 1905), with a historical
section by Thomas H. Baconj J. Huriey Hagood and Roberta Hagood,-The Story of
Hannibal (Hannibal: Standard Printing Company, 1976}. These sources form the
basis for this nomination, together with the historic inventory undertaken in
1979 and 1980 under grants from the state Office of Historic Preservation.
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11.

12.
13.
14.
15.

Samuel Clemens (Mark Twain), Life on the Mississippi (MNew York: Airmont
Publishing Co., 1965), o. 33.

Holcombe, p. 940,

Missouri Courier, June 21, 1848, Reference provided by Ruth Anton.

Aside from Mark Twain's fictional representations of Hannibal in Tom Sawyer and
Huckleberry Finn, the town fiqures oromineritly in Autobioaraphy of Mark Twain,

ed. by Charles Neider (New York: Harper, 1959), and notes published as "VilTagers
of 1840-3" in Mark Twain's Hannibal, Huck and Tom, ed. by Malter Blair (Berkelev:
University of California Press, 1962), pp. 23-40. Blair has also provided a
biographical directory to these notes, pp. 343-369 of the same volume. Another
important scholarly source is Dixon Wecter, Sam Clemens of Mannibal (Boston:
Houghton Mifflin, 1952).

Charles Van Ravenswaay, ed., Missouri: A Guide to the "Show Me" State
(New York: Duell, Sloan and Pearce, 1941), p. 222.

Samuel Clemens {Mark Twain), "Villagers," p. 35.
.Blair, p. 365.

Trinity Parish, Hannibal, Missouri. (Hannibal, Mo.: Trinity Parish, 1945),

Clark A. Reynolds; Famous American Admirals (New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold,
1978), pp. 79-81; Robert E. Coontz, From the Mississippi to the Sea (Mew York:
Dorance and Co., 1930), v. 18; Van Ravenswaay, p. 223.

Portrait and Biographical Record of Marion, Ralls and Pike Counties, Missouri
{Chicago: C. 0. Owen & Co., 1895}, pp. 133-135. This volume provides
information on many other Hannibalians of the era, :

Hagood, p. 156.

ibid, p. 118. |

Greene, pp. 235-238,

J. B. Jeffries, "A City of Monuments, Memorials and Noted Men" in "Speeches

Delivered at Annual Dinner of the State Historical Society, January 21, 1927,"
The Missouri Historical Review, Vol. XXI, No.-3. (April 1927), pp. 337-341.
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middle line of alley; thence N to a point opposite S edges of Lots 4 and 5; thence E

to a point 41 ft. E. of SW corner of Iot 3; thence N to middle line of Bird St; thence
W toc middle line ot Morth Fourth St.; thence N along middle line of North Fourth St. to
middle line of Hill St.; thence E along middle line of Hill St. to point opposite
middle line of alley bisecting Block 20; thence N along middle line of alley bisecting
Block 20 to a point opposite the S lines of Lots 3 and 4 of Block 20; thence W to a
point 65.66 ft. W of SE corner of Iot 5; thence N to middle line of North St.; thence

W along said line 34.34 ft; thence N to a point 42 ft. E of NW corner of Lot 8, Block
35; thence W to middle line of North Fourth St; thence S 15.5 ft; thence W to a point

68 ft. W and 50 ft. N of SE corner of Lot 1, Block 36; thence N 15.5 ft to a point 74 ft.
FE of NW corner of Iot 1, Block 36; thence W to middle line of alley bisecting Block 36;
thence N to middle line of Rock St.; thence W to a point 76 ft. W of NE corner of Iot 4,
Block 37; thence S to a point 66 ft. E of SW corner of Lot 4, Block 37; thence W to
middie line of alley bisecting Block 37; thence S to a point opposite the N lines of
Iote 2 and 7; thence W to a point 62 ft. W of NE corner of Iot 7; thence § to middle
line of North St.; thence W to a point coposite the middle line of alley bisecting
Block 39; thence S to middle line of Hill St.; thence W to a point opposite the middle
line of alley bisecting Cut Lot 75; thence S to a point opposite the S line of Lot 2,
Out: Lot 75; thence E to a point 74 £t W of SE corner of Iot 2; thence S to middle line
of Eird St.; thence E to middle line of North Seventh St.; thence S to a point opposite
the S line of Lot 4, Cut Lot 74%; thence W to a point 70 ft. W of NE corner of Lot 3,
Out Lot 74%; thence S to middle line of Center St.; thence W to a point opposite the
middle line cf Draper Alley, which is the alley bisecting Cut Lot 74; thence S to a
point 19.4 ft. S of S line of Iot 3 and 111.6 ft. N of S line of Out Lot 74; thence E
to middle line of North Seventh St.; thence S to middle line of Church St.; thence W to
a point opposite W line of Iot 2, Out Lot 62%; thence S to a point 41 ft. S of NW cormer
of Iot 11; thence E to middle line of South Seventh St.; thence S to middle line of Lyon
St.; thence E to middle line of South Sixth St.; thence S to a point cpposite the south
edge of the former Immaculate Conception Church occupying part of ILots 5 and 6 of Block
48; thence E along south edge of former church to middle line of alley bisecting Block
48; thence S to middle line of Collier St.; therze E to middle line of South Fifth St.;
thence N to a point opposite the S line of Iot 7, Block 47; thence E to middle line of
alley bisccting Block 47; thence N through alleys bisecting Blocks 47, 26, and 25 to a
point opposite S lines of ILots 3 and 6 of Block 25; thence E to a point 40 ft. E of SW
ocorner of Iot 3; thence N 21.8 ft.; thence E 40 ft. 10 inches; thence N 43.7 ft.; thence
E along S line of Iot 4 to middle line of South Fourth St.; thence N to middle line of
Broadway; thence E to point of beginning.
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CENTRAL PARK HISTORIC DISTRICT #26
Hannibal, Missouri

Photographer: Architecture Committee, 1980
Neg, Loc,: Hannibal Arts Council

P, 0, Box 1202, Hannibal, MO 63401

View from Southeast of Park Methodist
Church, 201 N, 5th St,, corner Center St,,
1881,
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